PUBLISHED VERSION

Merryn Netting and Maria Makrides Effects of early diet on childhood allergy

The Biology of the First 1,000 Days, 2018 / Karakochuk, C.D., Whitfield, K.C., Green, T.J., Kraemer, K. (ed./s), Ch.21, pp.323-334

© 2018 by Taylor & Francis Group, LLC. The Open Access version of this book, available at www.taylorfrancis.com, has been made availbale under a Creative Commons Attribution-Non Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 license.

Published version http://dx.doi.org/10.1201/9781315152950-21

PERMISSIONS						
http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/						
CC TO S = Attribution-NonCommercial- NoDerivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0)						
This is a human-readable summary of (and not a substitute for) the license. Disclaimer.						
You are free to:						
Share — copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format						
The licensor cannot revoke these freedoms as long as you follow the license terms.						
Under the following terms:						
Attribution — You must give appropriate credit, provide a link to the license, and indicate if changes were made. You may do so in any reasonable manner, but not in any way that suggests the licensor endorses you or your use.						
NonCommercial – You may not use the material for commercial purposes.						
NoDerivatives – If you remix, transform, or build upon the material, you may not distribute the modified material.						
No additional restrictions — You may not apply legal terms or technological measures that legally restrict others from doing anything the license permits.						
11 August 2021						

21 Effects of Early Diet on Childhood Allergy

Merryn Netting and Maria Makrides

CONTENTS

Introduction	
Hypotheses of Allergy Development	
Hygiene Hypothesis	
Dual Allergen Exposure Hypothesis	325
Dietary Influences on Development of Allergy	325
Long-Chain Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids	325
Antioxidants	
Vitamin D	
Allergen Exposure: Timing and Type of Allergens	
Maternal Allergen Avoidance during Pregnancy	
Does Breastfeeding Prevent Allergy?	
What about Infant Formula?	
Complementary Foods: When and Which Foods?	
Updated Infant Feeding Guidelines for Prevention of Food Allergy	
Conclusion	331
References	

INTRODUCTION

Food allergies are classified into two categories: those that are mediated by immunoglobulin E (IgE) antibodies and those mediated by immune cells (non-IgE mediated) [1]. Although it is possible to develop an IgE-mediated allergy to any food, most individuals with allergies react to one, or a combination, of nine common foods: cow's milk, soy, egg, wheat, peanut, tree nuts, sesame, fish, and shellfish [2]. The most common symptoms associated with food allergy in children include urticaria (hives), angioedema, eczema, enterocolitis, enteropathy, irritability, vomiting, diarrhea, and anaphylaxis [1].

Allergic disease, and in particular food allergies, significantly impact general health perception, parental emotional distress, and family activities [3]. Young children are particularly at risk of developing food allergy, and it is estimated that up to 10% of toddlers have food allergy, compared with 1% to 2% of adults [1,4]. Why young children are becoming increasingly sensitized to food allergens is the focus of ongoing research. The development of tolerance to multiple foods during early life is essential to survival, and the immune mechanisms that enable the development

of tolerance are highly developed and regulated. Food allergy in an infant or child represents a failure to develop tolerance to a food protein and is associated with aberrant T helper cell 2 (Th2) balance [5]. Environmental factors such as maternal dietary patterns and micronutrient supplements, as well as postnatal factors such as the mode of birth, feeding type, early infections, timing, and type of solid foods, and exposure to allergens all influence the developing immune system [6]. However, it has become clear that these environmental factors may exert differing effects, depending on genetic predisposition, and are modulated by epigenetic effects on gene expression.

Fewer allergies are observed in low-income countries; however, rates appear to be increasing as these countries adopt more Westernized lifestyle patterns [7,8]. There also appear to be important migration effects; the HealthNut cohort in Melbourne had a high rate of food allergy and eczema among children born to Asian immigrants [9]. This difference in allergy rate was significantly higher than that in children born in Asia who migrated to Australia with their parents [9]. The reasons for this increased incidence is unclear, and is likely to be due to multiple mechanisms. In this chapter, following an overview of the hypotheses of allergy development, we examine the evidence relating to dietary influences on development of food allergy, and discuss the most recent infant feeding guidelines for allergy prevention.

HYPOTHESES OF ALLERGY DEVELOPMENT

The reasons why some individuals develop allergies are complex and multifactorial. The main hypotheses about the etiology of allergy include the hygiene and dual allergen exposure hypotheses.

HYGIENE HYPOTHESIS

The hygiene hypothesis is based on the observation that people living in European farming communities have lower rates of food allergy and asthma compared to those in the city [10]. It is hypothesized that the farming environment and lifestyle leads to greater exposure during infancy to bacterial markers called endotoxins that influence the microbiome, which in turn promotes tolerogenic immune pathways.

In a Swedish study, washing dishes by hand was associated with a lower incidence of allergic disease as compared with using automated dishwashers [11]. The protective effect of dishwashing by hand was stronger in children eating fermented foods and foods purchased from the farm door [11]. This effect may be related to exposure to beneficial microbial exposures not destroyed by high-temperature machine dishwashing. In Westernized countries, there has been an increased consumption of virtually sterile processed foods. The influence of the consumption of highly processed foods on the gut microbiome may be one of the mechanisms by which Western-style diets are associated with increases in atopy [12]. The hygiene hypothesis has been further supported by observations that birth by cesarean section is associated with an increased risk of food allergy or atopy [13], with the mechanism postulated to be related to the lack of inoculation with maternal gut flora that occurs during a normal vaginal delivery.

DUAL ALLERGEN EXPOSURE HYPOTHESIS

The dual exposure to allergen hypothesis proposes that tolerance to antigens occurs in the neonate through high-dose oral exposure, and that allergic sensitization occurs through low-dose cutaneous exposure [14]. It is hypothesized that there is a balance between these processes and is an issue particularly for babies with eczema who have filament aggregating protein (filaggrin) mutations, resulting in altered skin barrier function and abnormal immune reactivity [14]. It is proposed that food proteins (from the household environment) pass through the disrupted skin barrier, leading to Th2 responses, IgE production, and sensitization to the allergen [15]. This may be particularly problematic for infants at risk of developing allergy (including babies with eczema), where allergenic foods are consumed by household members but avoided in the infant's diet as the baby is exposed to the allergen via their skin, but not the potentially protective oral route.

DIETARY INFLUENCES ON DEVELOPMENT OF ALLERGY

Our diet has the potential to alter the tendency toward allergy by immunomodulatory effects of dietary components and exposures to allergens. Infants may be exposed to nutritional influences via the maternal diet while they are *in utero*, during breast-feeding, or as they start consuming solid foods [16].

Maternal dietary patterns associated with decreased sensitization in their children include Mediterranean diets, and the consumption of fruits, vegetables, and fish [12]. These nutrient-rich foods and dietary patterns contain immunomodulatory factors, including polyunsaturated fatty acids, antioxidants, vitamin D, prebiotics, and probiotics. These factors may foster a healthy immune system by modifying the immune response or the functioning of the immune system. It is also possible that women who consume these types of diets have other associated lifestyle factors that are associated with a reduced risk of allergy development, such as the avoidance of tobacco smoke, and less exposure to environmental pollutants [17].

LONG-CHAIN POLYUNSATURATED FATTY ACIDS

Omega-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (LCPUFA), found predominantly in marine oils, modulate the immune system by the inhibition of inflammatory pathways and may be the reason diets containing fish are associated a lower risk of atopic disorders [12]. Diets rich in omega-3 LCPUFA may alter the immune system by affecting Th cell balance, specifically inhibiting Th2 cell differentiation, and thereby reducing IgE-mediated allergy. The effect of omega-3 LCPUFA in the maternal diet during pregnancy and lactation on development of childhood allergy has been tested in many randomized controlled trials (RCTs), with inconsistent results. The most recent *Cochrane Review* of maternal supplementation with omega-3 LCPUFA concluded that, although there was little effect of omega-3 supplementation during pregnancy and/or breastfeeding in the reduction of allergic disease in children, there were some reductions in atopic disease outcomes, including food allergy and eczema in the first year in children born to women at high risk of allergy [18]. Since this review, the results of the Copenhagen Prospective Studies on Asthma in Childhood₂₀₁₀ (COPSAC₂₀₁₀) have been published [19]. In the COPSAC₂₀₁₀, pregnant women were randomized to large doses (2.4 g) of omega-3 LCPUFA or a placebo (olive oil) per day during the last trimester of pregnancy, and their offspring were followed to 5 years of age. The study reported that, for children born to the intervention group, the absolute risk of a persistent wheeze or asthma was reduced by one-third, with further analysis suggesting that this effect was strongest in the children of women whose blood eicosapentaenoic acid and docosahexaenoic acid levels were in the lowest third of the trial population. Supplementation with omega-3 LCPUFA may be not recommended for all women, but might be useful for subgroups, such as those with a family history of food allergy or with poor omega-3 LCPUFA status. LCPUFA have many effects, and supplementation may be not without risk, as it has been associated with longer gestational length [20].

The effect of direct supplementation of infants' diets with omega-3 LCPUFA has also been investigated. The Childhood Asthma Prevention Study (CAPs) was an RCT conducted in children with a family history of asthma, which supplemented diets with omega-3 LCPUFA and restricted the dietary intake of dietary omega-6 fatty acids from 6 months of age to 5 years of age [21]. The study found no effect on asthma, eczema, or atopy at 5 years of age. Schindler et al. [22] reviewed nine more studies, including a total of 2,704 infants, that assessed the effect of higher versus lower intake of LCPUFA on allergic outcomes in infants for the Cochrane database. The *Cochrane Review* concluded that there is no evidence that PUFA supplementation in infancy has an effect on infant or childhood allergy, asthma, dermatitis/ eczema, or food allergy; however, the authors noted that the studies were of variable quality and heterogeneous in nature.

ANTIOXIDANTS

There is an association between maternal fruit and vegetable intake and less atopy in their babies [12], which may be due to the antioxidant content of diets rich in fruits and vegetables. The antioxidant vitamins (C, A, and E) and minerals (zinc and selenium) present in fruit and vegetables may protect against atopic disease of the airway by protection against oxidant damage and inflammation of the airways [23]. However, there have been no antioxidant supplementation trials to test the link between antioxidants in the maternal diet and atopy development.

VITAMIN D

Vitamin D is a fat-soluble vitamin and hormone with many roles, including immunomodulation, a process in which the immune response is altered. Vitamin D is obtained through the action of sunlight on skin and, in smaller amounts, through diet. Interest in poor vitamin D status and increased allergy risk began with the observation that people living at lower latitudes with greater sun exposure have fewer allergies; this has been shown in the United States and Australia [24]. However, this association has not been demonstrated in cohort studies or RCTs with vitamin D supplementation. The Barwon infant study [25] found no association between low vitamin D levels at 6 months of age and egg allergy at 1 year of age. Higher cord blood vitamin D was associated with less eczema, but not with food sensitization or food allergy at 1 year of age in a subset of infants enrolled in an RCT comparing the effect of fish oil supplementation during infancy on allergic outcomes [26].

ALLERGEN EXPOSURE: TIMING AND TYPE OF ALLERGENS

MATERNAL ALLERGEN AVOIDANCE DURING PREGNANCY

Avoidance of common allergens in the maternal diet during pregnancy is not recommended as a strategy for allergy prevention in Australia and other countries, including the United States and Europe. Avoiding the consumption of common allergens during pregnancy does not reduce the incidence of sensitization to allergens in children [12], and the restricted diet is associated with lower pregnancy weight gain [27].

DOES BREASTFEEDING PREVENT ALLERGY?

Breast milk is the gold standard for infant feeding, and has many benefits for both the mother and child. In addition to its nutritional benefits, breast milk contains many nonnutritional components, including antibodies, cytokines, and other immunomodulatory components [28]. The evidence that breastfeeding is protective against allergy, specifically food allergy, is weak; however, this may be due to methodological issues. A recent systematic review and meta-analysis including the results of 89 studies reported that breastfeeding is associated with less asthma at 5 years of age, with a greater effect in low- to middle-income countries [29]. This review reported that there is weak evidence for breastfeeding and the prevention of other atopic diseases, including eczema and rhinitis, with no effect of breastfeeding on development of food allergy [29]. The lack of protective results for breastfeeding and food allergy may be due to reverse causality, as highly atopic families are more likely to breastfeed and feed for longer, and the authors note that this should be adjusted for when reporting the results of trials investigating breastfeeding and allergy development. There are other innate issues with studies investigating the effects of breastfeeding, including the inability to randomize exposures. Additionally, the lack of evidence for breastfeeding and protection against food allergy may also be because many of the cohort studies included in the systematic review were conducted prior to the food allergy epidemic [29]. Some of the limitations of the cohort studies have been addressed by the only randomized trial of breastfeeding exposure in Belarus [30]. In the PROBIT study, women were cluster randomized via attendance at maternal health centers that followed the World Health Organization Baby Friendly Hospital Initiative (WHO BHFI) advice or other health centers [30]. Allergic sensitization was assessed using skin prick testing, and allergy symptoms were scored using standardized protocols. A total of 17,046 mother-infant pairs were randomized into the trial, and 13,889 were reviewed at 6.5 years of age. Although infants whose mothers attended the WHO BHFI health centers breastfed for longer, the results of this RCT did not support the protective effect of prolonged breastfeeding against allergic sensitization, and the development of asthma, hay fever, or eczema [30].

Food allergens consumed by the mother appear in her breast milk [31], and avoidance of allergens in the maternal diet during lactation does not reduce the incidence of sensitization in the infant. However, there are emerging data, specific to egg, that the inclusion of egg in the maternal diet during early lactation is associated with increased levels of egg-specific IgG4 in their babies, which may be important for tolerance development [32].

WHAT ABOUT INFANT FORMULA?

Not all infants are breastfed, and many breastfed infants have infant formula top-up feeds. Infant formula is usually based on modified cow's milk protein, and this is often an infant's first exposure to an allergen. For the prevention of allergy, there is insufficient evidence to recommend the use of soy-based formulas, goat-milk-based formulas, formulas containing LCPUFA, or formulas containing pre- or probiotics [17].

Partially hydrolyzed infant formula has been promoted as a means of preventing development of allergy and, until recently, infant feeding guidelines in Europe, America, and Australasia [33–35] supported the use of hydrolyzed formulas for nonbreastfed infants in place of standard cow's milk formula if the infant has a family history of allergy. A recent systematic review and meta-analysis by Boyle et al. [36] investigated whether hydrolyzed cow's milk formulas can prevent allergic or autoimmune disease. This review, commissioned by the UK Food Standards Authority, included 37 eligible intervention trials of hydrolyzed formula, with over 19,000 participants. There was evidence of a conflict of interest and a high or unclear risk of bias in most studies of allergic outcomes, and evidence of publication bias for studies of eczema and wheeze. Overall, the authors reported that there was no consistent evidence that partially or extensively hydrolyzed formulas reduced the risk of allergic or autoimmune outcomes, and this is reflected in newer infant feeding guidelines for allergy prevention guidelines [37].

COMPLEMENTARY FOODS: WHEN AND WHICH FOODS?

When considering the introduction to solid foods, issues specific to the prevention of allergy relate to the timing of introduction to solid foods and the type of foods introduced [29,38–40]. In the last 10 years, there has been a reversal of recommendations regarding the introduction to solid foods for prevention of allergy. While guidelines are used to promote delayed introduction to solid foods, and staged and delayed exposure to common allergens, this was not associated with a reduction in the prevalence of food allergy and, in fact, may have contributed to the increasing prevalence. The change in guidelines has occurred as available evidence to inform these recommendations has shifted from population-based cohort studies to RCTs and systematic reviews of RCTs.

Several randomized controlled trials have investigated the timing of including common allergens in an infant's diet. Whereas most of the trials have considered single allergens, peanut [41] and egg [42–45], one trial [46] investigated the effect of adding multiple allergens into an infant's diet before one year of age. The outcomes of the single allergen trials are summarized in Table 21.1.

TABLE 21.1

Summary of Results from Single Allergen Allergy Prevention Studies

Trial	Allergen	Intervention	Result		
LEAP [41]	Peanut	RCT	Peanut allergy at five years:		
		Peanut vs. no peanut from 4-11	Group 1		
		months	Peanut group: 1.9%		
		Group 1: peanut SPT <1 mm:	Control group: 13.7% (<i>p</i> < 0.001)		
		<i>n</i> = 530	Group 2		
		Group 2: peanut SPT 1-4 mm:	Peanut group: 10.6%		
		n = 98	Control group: 35.3% (<i>p</i> = 0.004)		
STAR [43]	Egg	DBPC RCT	Egg allergy at one year:		
		Egg $(n = 49)$ vs. no egg $(n = 37)$	Egg group: 33%		
		From 4–8 months	Control group: 51%		
		Infants with eczema	RR 0.65; 95% CI: 0.38, 1.11; <i>p</i> = 0.11		
STEP [42]	Egg	DBPC RCT	Egg allergy at one year:		
		Egg $(n = 407)$ vs. no egg	Egg group: 7.0%		
		(n = 410)	Control group: 10.3%;		
		From 4–10 months	ARR 0.75; 95% CI: 0.48, 1.17; <i>p</i> = 0.20)		
		Infants with family history of	Egg-specific IgG4 levels:		
		atopy but without eczema	Egg group median: 1.22 mg A/L		
			Control group: 0.07 mg A/L; <i>p</i> < 0.0001		
HEAP [44]	Egg	RCT	Sensitization to hen's egg at one year:		
		Egg $(n = 184)$ vs. no egg	Egg group: 5.6%		
		(n = 199)	Control group: 2.6%		
		From 4–12 months	RR 2.20; 95% CI: 0.68, 7.14; <i>p</i> = 0.24		
			Hen's egg allergy at one year:		
			Egg group: 2.1%		
			Control group: 0.6%		
			RR 3.30; 95% CI: 0.35, 31.32; <i>p</i> = 0.35		
BEAT [45]	Egg	RCT	Egg sensitization at one year		
	00	Egg $(n = 165)$ vs. no egg	(EW-SPT ≥3 mm)		
		(n = 154)	Egg group: 11%		
		From 4–8 months	Control group: 20%		
		Infants with family history of	OR 0.46; 95% CI: 0.22, 0.95; <i>p</i> = 0.03		
		allergic disease and	IgG4 to egg proteins and IgG4/IgE		
		EW-SPT <2 mm	ratios higher in egg group ($p < 0.0001$)		
Net All estimates and liter ADD editested selection with DDDC double blind alerthe controlled.					

Note: A/L, antigen per liter; ARR, adjusted relative risk; DBPC, double-blind placebo-controlled; EW-SPT, egg white skin prick test; IgE, immunoglobulin E; IgG4, immunoglobulin G4; OR, odds ratio; RCT, randomized controlled trial; RR, relative risk; SPT, skin prick test.

The Learning Early About Peanut (LEAP) allergy study [41] compared early (4–11 months) with delayed (5 years) introduction to peanut in children at high risk of peanut allergy defined as preexisting eczema and/or egg allergy. The study demonstrated an 11%–25% absolute reduction in the risk of peanut allergy in high-risk infants (and a relative risk reduction of up to 80%) if peanut was introduced between 4 and 11 months of age [41].

Four trials investigating the timing of introduction to egg have been published [42–45]. Although none of the trials reported statistically significant differences in rates of egg allergy at 1 year of age in infants fed egg early compared with later introduction to egg, there was a trend toward lower rates of egg allergy in the groups of children introduced earlier to egg. Meta-analysis of the egg trials (including 1,915 participants) showed evidence that egg introduction at 4 to 6 months was associated with a lower risk of egg allergy compared with later egg introduction (RR 0.56; 95% CI: 0.36, 0.87; p = 0.009) [39]. The authors concluded that there is moderate certainty that early introduction to egg, compared to delayed introduction to egg, will reduce the risk of IgE-mediated egg allergy by up to 30%. It was of concern, however, that many infants screened for these trials already had clinical egg allergy prior to the introduction of solid foods, indicating that, at least for egg allergy, sensitization and allergy development takes place very early in life, and there may need to be some level of caution for some subgroups of the population, such as babies with severe eczema, when introducing egg into the diet.

The EAT study [46] was the first randomized controlled trial to test the effect of early introduction to solid foods (from 3 months) compared with the UK guidelines on allergy development of exclusive breastfeeding until introduction to solid foods at 6 months. The study found no significant difference in food allergy rates in the primary analysis (intention to treat analysis) between the early and standard introduction groups. There was no difference in breastfeeding rates at 12 months for individuals in the early introduction group, compared with the exclusive breastfeeding group, showing that earlier introduction of allergenic foods did not have an impact on breastfeeding [47].

Meta-analysis of the LEAP and EAT studies showed evidence that peanut introduction at 4 to 11 months of age was associated with a lower risk of peanut allergy when compared to delayed introduction to peanut (RR 0.29; 95% CI: 0.11, 0.74; p = 0.009) [39].

UPDATED INFANT FEEDING GUIDELINES FOR PREVENTION OF FOOD ALLERGY

Ten international allergy and immunology bodies released a joint consensus communication in 2015, highlighting new evidence from the LEAP study regarding the potential benefits of early, rather than delayed, peanut introduction during the period of complementary food introduction to prevent peanut allergy in high-risk infants [35]. This has led to the development of Australian Infant Feeding Consensus Guidelines [48] and an addendum to the USA National Institute of Health Feeding Guidelines for Reduction of Peanut Allergy [49] (Box 21.1). Whereas the Australian guidelines provide general information related to inclusion of allergens in the infant diet, the U.S. guidelines provide advice related to the inclusion of peanut into an infant's diet stratified by degree of risk, defined as the presence of eczema and/or egg allergy.

BOX 21.1 INFANT FEEDING GUIDELINES FOR THE PREVENTION OF FOOD ALLERGY

Australian Infant Feeding Consensus Guidelines [37]:

- When your infant is ready, at around 6 months, but not before 4 months, start to introduce a variety of solid foods, starting with iron-rich foods, while continuing breastfeeding.
- All infants should be given allergenic solid foods including peanut butter, cooked egg, and dairy and wheat products in the first year of life. This includes infants at high risk of allergy.
- Hydrolyzed (partially and extensively) infant formula are not recommended for prevention of allergic disease.

U.S. National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases Guidelines, 2010 [50]:

- Restriction of maternal diet during pregnancy or lactation is not recommended as a strategy for preventing the development of food allergy.
- It is recommended that all infants be exclusively breastfed until 4 to 6 months of age (unless contraindicated for medical reasons).
- It is recommended that introduction of solid food should not be delayed beyond 4 to 6 months. Potentially allergenic foods may be introduced at this time as well.

U.S. National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases Addendum Guidelines for Introduction to Peanut, 2017 [49]:

- Addendum guideline 1—For infants with severe eczema, egg allergy, or both:
 - Strongly consider evaluation by specific peanut IgE measurement and/or skin prick testing and, if necessary, an oral food challenge. Based on test results, introduce peanut-containing foods.
 - Earliest age of peanut introduction: 4 to 6 months.

CONCLUSION

The risk factors for developing childhood food allergy are complex and multifactorial, depending on a combination of genetic, nutritional, and environmental factors. Early life nutrition exposures and feeding practices play an important role, as does the maternal diet during pregnancy. The most recent public health guidelines for infant feeding to prevent food allergy promote exposure to common allergens, particularly peanut, in the first year of life. There are many other potential factors, including the influence of a variety of foods and nutrients, and the role of processing on foods, that are yet to be explored.

There are concerns regarding the potential for increasing incidence of food allergy in low- to middle-income countries as they adopt more Westernized food and lifestyle patterns, and it is possible that early intervention may prevent this increase.

REFERENCES

- 1. Pawankar R, Canonica GW, Holgate ST et al., editors. *World Allergy Organization white book on allergy*. Milwaukee, WI: World Allergy Organization; 2011.
- 2. Sicherer SH, Sampson HA. Food allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2006; 117:S470-5.
- 3. Sicherer SH, Noone SA, Munoz-Furlong A. The impact of childhood food allergy on quality of life. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* 2001; 87(6):461–4.
- 4. Osborne NJ, Koplin JJ, Martin PE et al. Prevalence of challenge-proven IgE-mediated food allergy using population-based sampling and predetermined challenge criteria in infants. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2011; 127(3):668–76.e2.
- 5. Castro-Sanchez P, Martin-Villa JM. Gut immune system and oral tolerance. *Br J Nutr* 2013; 109(Suppl 2):S3–11.
- 6 Prescott SL. Early-life environmental determinants of allergic diseases and the wider pandemic of inflammatory noncommunicable diseases. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2013; 131:23–30.
- 7. Boye JI. Food allergies in developing and emerging economies: Need for comprehensive data on prevalence rates. *Clin Transl Allergy* 2012; 2(1):25.
- 8. Prescott SL, Pawankar R, Allen KJ et al. A global survey of changing patterns of food allergy burden in children. *World Allergy Organ J* 2013; 6(1):21.
- Koplin JJ, Peters RL, Ponsonby AL et al. Increased risk of peanut allergy in infants of Asian-born parents compared to those of Australian-born parents. *Allergy* 2014; 69:1639-47.
- Liu AH. Revisiting the hygiene hypothesis for allergy and asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2015; 136:860–5.
- Hesselmar B, Hicke-Roberts A, Wennergren G. Allergy in children in hand versus machine dishwashing. *Pediatrics* 2015; 135:e590–7.
- Netting MJ, Middleton PF, Makrides M. Does maternal diet during pregnancy and lactation affect outcomes in offspring? A systematic review of food-based approaches. *Nutrition* 2014; 30:1225–41.
- Bager P, Wohlfahrt J, Westergaard T. Caesarean delivery and risk of atopy and allergic disease: Meta-analyses. *Clin Exp Allergy* 2008; 38:634–42.
- 14. Lack G. Update on risk factors for food allergy. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2012; 129:1187–97.
- 15. Fox AT, Sasieni P, du Toit G et al. Household peanut consumption as a risk factor for the development of peanut allergy. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2009; 123:417–23.
- 16. Warner JO. Early life nutrition and allergy. Early Hum Dev 2007; 83(12):777-83.
- 17. Prescott S, Nowak-Wegrzyn A. Strategies to prevent or reduce allergic disease. *Ann Nutr Metab* 2011; 59(Suppl 1):28–42.
- Gunaratne AW, Makrides M, Collins CT. Maternal prenatal and/or postnatal n-3 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (LCPUFA) supplementation for preventing allergies in early childhood. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2015 7:CD010085.
- 19. Bisgaard H, Stokholm J, Chawes BL et al. Fish oil-derived fatty acids in pregnancy and wheeze and asthma in offspring. *N Engl J Med* 2016; 375:2530–9.

- Makrides M, Gibson RA, McPhee AJ et al. Effect of DHA supplementation during pregnancy on maternal depression and neurodevelopment of young children: A randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 2010; 304:1675–83.
- Almqvist C, Garden F, Xuan W et al. Omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acid exposure from early life does not affect atopy and asthma at age 5 years. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2007; 119:1438–44.
- 22. Schindler T, Sinn JK, Osborn DA. Polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation in infancy for the prevention of allergy. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2016; 10:CD010112.
- Allan K, Kelly FJ, Devereux G. Antioxidants and allergic disease: A case of too little or too much? *Clin Exp Allergy* 2010; 40:370–80.
- 24. Mullins RJ, Camargo CA. Latitude, sunlight, vitamin D, and childhood food allergy/ anaphylaxis. *Curr Allergy Asthma Rep* 2012; 12:64–71.
- 25. Molloy J, Koplin JJ, Allen KJ et al. Vitamin D insufficiency in the first 6 months of infancy and challenge-proven IgE-mediated food allergy at 1 year of age: A case-cohort study. *Allergy* 2017; 72(8):1222–1231. doi: 10.1111/all.13122.
- Jones AP, D'Vaz N, Meldrum S et al. 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 status is associated with developing adaptive and innate immune responses in the first 6 months of life. *Clin Exp Allergy* 2015 Jan; 45:220–31.
- Falth-Magnusson K, Kjellman NI. Development of atopic disease in babies whose mothers were receiving exclusion diet during pregnancy: A randomized study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1987; 80:868–75.
- 28. Victoria CG, Bahle R, Barros AJD et al. Breastfeeding in the 21st century: Epidemiology, mechanisms, and lifelong effect. *Lancet* 2016; 387:475–90.
- 29. Lodge CJ, Tan DJ, Lau MX et al. Breastfeeding and asthma and allergies: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Paediatrica* 2015; 104:38–53.
- Kramer MS, Matush L, Vanilovich I et al. Effect of prolonged and exclusive breast feeding on risk of allergy and asthma: Cluster randomised trial. *BMJ* 2007; 335(7624):815.
- Palmer DJ, Gold MS, Makrides M. Effect of maternal egg consumption on breast milk ovalbumin concentration. *Clin Exp Allergy* 2008; 38(7):1186–91.
- 32. Metcalfe JR, Marsh JA, D'Vaz N et al. Effects of maternal dietary egg intake during early lactation on human milk ovalbumin concentration: A randomized controlled trial. *Clin Exp Allergy* 2016; 46:1605–13.
- 33. Australasian Society of Clinical Immunology and Allergy. ASCIA Infant feeding advice. 2010.
- Muraro A, Halken S, Arshad SH et al. EAACI food allergy and anaphylaxis guidelines: Primary prevention of food allergy. *Allergy* 2014; 69:590–601.
- Fleischer DM, Sicherer S, Greenhawt M et al. Consensus communication on early peanut introduction and the prevention of peanut allergy in high-risk infants. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2015; 136(2):258–61.
- 36. Boyle RJ, Ierodiakonou D, Khan T et al. Hydrolysed formula and risk of allergic or autoimmune disease: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ* 2016; 352:i974.
- Australasian Society of Clinical Immunology and Allergy. ASCIA guidelines for allergy prevention in infants 2016. Available at https://www.allergy.org.au/images/pcc /ASCIA_Guidelines_infant_feeding_and_allergy_prevention.pdf.
- Grimshaw KE, Allen K, Edwards CA et al. Infant feeding and allergy prevention: A review of current knowledge and recommendations. A EuroPrevall state of the art paper. *Allergy* 2009; 64(10):1407–16.
- 39. Ierodiakonou D, Garcia-Larsen V, Logan A et al. Timing of allergenic food introduction to the infant diet and risk of allergic or autoimmune disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA* 2016; 316:1181–92.
- 40. Koplin JJ, Allen KJ. Optimal timing for solids introduction: Why are the guidelines always changing? *Clin Exp Allergy* 2013; 43:826–34.

- 41. Du Toit G, Roberts G, Sayre PH et al. Randomized trial of peanut consumption in infants at risk for peanut allergy. *N Engl J Med* 2015; 372:803–13.
- 42. Palmer DJ, Sullivan TR, Gold MS et al. Randomized controlled trial of early regular egg intake to prevent egg allergy. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2017; 139(5):1600–7; doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.06.052.
- 43. Palmer DJ, Metcalfe J, Makrides M et al. Early regular egg exposure in infants with eczema: A randomized controlled trial. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2013; 132(2):387–92e1.
- 44. Bellach J, Schwarz V, Ahrens B et al. Randomized placebo-controlled trial of hen's egg consumption for primary prevention in infants. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2017; 139(5):1591–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.06.045.
- 45. Tan JW, Valerio C, Barnes EH et al. A randomized trial of egg introduction from 4 months of age in infants at risk for egg allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2017; 139(5):1621–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.08.035.
- 46. Perkin MR, Logan K, Tseng A et al. Randomized trial of introduction of allergenic foods in breast-fed infants. *N Engl J Med* 2016; 374(18):1733–43.
- 47. Perkin MR, Logan K, Marrs T et al. Enquiring About Tolerance (EAT) study: Feasibility of an early allergenic food introduction regimen. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2016; 137(5):1477–86.
- Netting MJ, Campbell DE, Koplin JJ et al. An Australian consensus on infant feeding guidelines to prevent food allergy: Outcomes from the Australian infant feeding summit. *J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract* 2017 May 9. pii: S2213–2198(17)30184–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2017.03.013. [Epub ahead of print]
- 49. Togias A, Cooper SF, Acebal ML et al. Addendum guidelines for the prevention of peanut allergy in the United States: Report of the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases-Sponsored Expert Panel. *Pediatr Dermatol* 2017; 34(1):e1–e21.
- 50. Boyce JA, Assa'ad A, Burks AW et al. Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of food allergy in the United States: Report of the NIAID-sponsored expert panel. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2010; 126:S1–58.